
FATHER VINCENT RIGDON, Lt. Colonel, United States Air 

Force Reserve, 11602 Kemp Mill Road, Silver Spring, 

Maryland;  

 

RABBI DAVID KAYE, Capt., U.S. Air Force, Offutt Air Force 

Base, Nebraska, 301 Lincoln Highway, Omaha, Nebraska  

68113-2050;  

 

Third Class Petty Officer LIAM DOWNES, United States 

Navy, 2B Eucalyptus Road, Annapolis, Maryland  21402;  

 

KAREN DOWNES, 2B Eucalyptus Road, Annapolis, 

Maryland  21402; and  

 

THE MUSLIM AMERICAN MILITARY ASSOCIATION, 

Masjidush-Schura, 3109 Martin Luther King Avenue, S.E., 

Washington, D.C.  20032, 

 

Plaintiffs, 

 

v. 

 

Dr. WILLIAM J. PERRY, in his official capacity as Secretary 

of Defense;  

 

SHEILA E. WIDNALL, in her official capacity as Secretary 

of the United States Air Force;  

 

TOGO D. WEST, in his official capacity as Secretary of the 

United States Army; and  

 

JOHN H. DALTON, in his official capacity as Secretary of 

the United States Navy,  

 

Defendants. 
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 COMPLAINT 

Come now Plaintiffs, by and through their attorneys, The Becket Fund For 

Religious Liberty, and for their Complaint state as follows: 

 NATURE OF ACTION 

1. This suit seeks relief from the clear and purposeful deprivation of the 

plaintiffs’ freedom of speech and of religion. 

2. Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment that enforcement of 18 U.S.C. § 1913 

and Department of Defense Directives; USAF Regulations, DoDD 1344.10 ¶ D.1.B(1); DoD 

Instruction 5500.7-A § 6-100; and AFI 51-902 ¶ 3.1, AFI 51-902 ¶ 3.3; Army Regulations 

215-1, ¶ 4-7P; AR 600-20, ¶ 5-3A(2)(A); Public Law 104-61, § 8015 as applied to the 

sermons and counseling of United States Military Chaplains violates the Free Speech and 

Free Exercise Clauses of the United States Constitution as well as the Religious Freedom 

Restoration Act of 1993, 42 U.S.C. 2000bb et seq.  Plaintiffs further seek a permanent 

injunction against interference with religious services, preaching, and counseling by 

military chaplains to their congregants, together with costs and attorneys’ fees. 

PARTIES 

3. Father Vincent Rigdon has been a Roman Catholic priest for 19 years.  He 

holds a licentiate in the Canon Law of the Roman Catholic Church.  Father Rigdon is 

also a Chaplain in the United States Air Force Reserve, where he holds the rank of 

Lieutenant Colonel.  Father Rigdon’s duties include saying Mass for, preaching to, 

hearing the confessions of, and counseling members of the United States Air Force and 
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their families on a regular basis.  

4. Rabbi David Kaye is a Jewish Rabbi serving as an active duty Jewish 

chaplain in the United States Air Force, where he holds the rank of Captain.  Rabbi 

Kaye intends to preach to and counsel his congregants on moral issues, including their 

legal and political implications, as his religious tradition and conscience dictate.  

5. Third Class Petty Officer Liam Downes is in the United States Navy.  He is 

a Roman Catholic, and a parishioner of the Naval Academy Chapel where mass is 

celebrated by a military chaplain and where he goes to receive the Sacrament of 

Confession as well as spiritual and moral counseling.  As a congregant, Petty Officer 

Downes has the right to receive information on moral issues during religious services 

and individual counseling from his priest that is not censored by the U.S. Military. In 

addition, Petty Officer Downes is a Chaplain’s Assistant in the Navy, and as such, is 

bound by the enactments referred to above. 

6. Karen Downes, a Roman Catholic, is married to Liam Downes, who is a 

Third Class Petty Officer in the United States Navy.  Because her husband has been 

stationed at the Naval Academy, Karen Downes is a parishioner of the Naval Academy 

Chapel located on post.  Mass there is celebrated by a Navy chaplain.  As a 

congregant, Karen Downes has the right to receive information pertaining to moral 

issues during religious services and individual counseling from her priest that is not 

censored by the U.S. Military.  
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7. The Muslim American Military Association has approximately one 

thousand members who are Muslims serving in all branches of the United States 

military.  It sues here on behalf of its members, who have the right to receive 

uncensored preaching and moral guidance from their chaplains. 

8. Dr. William J. Perry is the Secretary of Defense and is responsible for the 

enforcement of the challenged provisions censoring what United States Military 

chaplains may preach on moral issues to their congregants.  He is sued in his official 

capacity only. 

9. Sheila D. Widnall is the Secretary of the United States Air Force and is also 

responsible for the enforcement of the challenged provisions censoring what United 

States Military chaplains may preach on moral issues to their congregants.  Secretary 

Widnall is sued in her official capacity only. 

10. Togo D. West is the Secretary of the United States Army and is also 

responsible for the enforcement of the challenged provisions censoring what United 

States Military chaplains may preach on moral issues to their congregants.  Secretary 

West is sued in his official capacity only. 

11. John H. Dalton is the Secretary of the Navy and is also responsible for the 

enforcement of the challenged provisions censoring what United States Military 

chaplains may preach on moral issues to their congregants.  Secretary Dalton is sued in 

his official capacity only. 
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 STATEMENT OF FACTS 

12. On or about May 29, 1996, the Archdiocese for the Military Services, USA 

sent a letter informing U.S. Military Chaplains of the "Project Life Postcard Campaign" 

(attached as Exhibit A), a project in which the Catholic Church in the United States is to 

speak with a unified voice urging Congress to override the President’s veto of the Partial 

Birth Abortion Ban Act.  The campaign began the weekend of June 29 and 30, 1996; it 

is set to last at least until the Congress votes on whether to override the President’s 

veto. 

13. The campaign consists of Catholic priests throughout the country 

preaching to their parishioners against partial birth abortion.  As an integral part of this 

preaching the priests ask their parishioners to sign postcards urging their U.S. Senators 

and Representatives to vote to override the President’s veto.  In connection with the 

campaign, on Thursday, September 12, 1996, Catholic bishops will lead an ecumenical 

prayer service on the grounds of the United States Capitol and have declared September 

13, 1996 a day of prayer and fasting for the override vote. 

14. On June 7, 1996, Myrna Wolcott of United States Air Force Headquarters, 

Washington, D.C., issued a memorandum (attached as Exhibit B) citing Department of 

Defense Directives and USAF Regulations as interpreted by the Judge Advocate General, 

forbidding chaplains from in any way encouraging, including by preaching, the Project 

Life Campaign. 
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 15 Citing a Judge Advocate General’s opinion, Wolcott's memorandum stated 

that Department of Defense Directives and USAF Regulations, DoDD 1344.10 ¶ D.1.B(1); 

DoD Instruction 5500.7-A §6-100; AFI 51-902 ¶ 3.1; AFI 51-902 ¶ 3.3, forbid chaplains’ 

involvement in the Project Life Campaign.  The memorandum stated that the Judge 

Advocate General viewed the law and the directives, which are aimed at preventing 

active duty military personnel from influencing or soliciting votes on a particular issue, 

participating in partisan political campaigns or partisan political activities, in such a way 

as to prohibit chaplains from participating in, or encouraging, the campaign.  

16. On or about June 25, 1996, the USAF as well as the other services, issued a 

clarification of the JAG opinion.  (Copies of Army and Navy clarifications attached as 

Exhibit C).  The so-called clarification stated that chaplains are permitted to preach on 

the morality of any issue in their sermons, and that any individual member of the armed 

services may communicate with Congress in a personal capacity.  Nevertheless, the 

chaplains were still not permitted to encourage their parishioners to take part in the 

united Catholic effort.  Both the USAF and the United States Army contend that any 

pastoral exhortation to write to members of Congress to ask for a ban on partial birth 

abortions is prohibited under the anti-lobbying statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1913.  These 

clarifications, as well as prior memoranda and directives, also prohibit chaplains from 

preaching, counseling, or encouraging participation in the September 12 prayer service 

and may prohibit them from urging their parishioners to pray and fast on September 13. 
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17. But these memoranda, and the statutes, enactments and directives they 

interpret, affect more than just Catholic chaplains and the Project Life Campaign.  They 

affect the content of homilies, sermons, and messages that all military chaplains desire 

to communicate to their parishioners and congregants.  They also limit chaplains’ 

ability to counsel their congregants, in the sacrament of confession and in similar 

settings.  They thus directly interfere with every chaplain’s ability to counsel and preach 

what his or her conscience dictates on any number of moral issues, particularly with 

respect to their congregant’s  moral duty to act on their consciences, all in violation of 

the Free Speech and Free Exercise Clauses of the United States Constitution, as well as 

the Religious Freedom Restoration Act, 42 U.S.C. 2000bb et seq. 

18. The challenged provisions, construed to prohibit chaplain participation in, 

or encouragement of, the Project Life Campaign and by logical extension any number of 

other moral issues, clearly violate the free speech and free exercise rights of Third Class 

Petty Officer Liam Downes, his wife Karen Downes, and the members of the Muslim 

American Military Association to receive uncensored homilies and counseling from their 

clergy members, in violation of the Free Speech and Free Exercise Clauses of the First 

Amendment to the United States Constitution and the Religious Freedom Restoration 

Act, 42 U.S.C. 2000bb et seq. 

 JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

19. This Court has jurisdiction over all claims in the Complaint, including 
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claims arising under the United States Constitution and the Religious Freedom 

Restoration Act, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331. 

20. Venue lies in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391.  The United States 

Department of Defense and United States Air Force Headquarters as well as the 

Archdiocese for the Military Services, USA is located in this district.  The cause of action 

arose in this district. 

 COUNT I 

 Violation of the United States Constitution 

 Free Speech Clause 

21. Paragraphs 1 through 20 are incorporated by reference as if set forth fully 

herein. 

22. Defendants through their officers and agents, violated the Free Speech 

Clause of the First Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

 

 COUNT II 

 Violation of the United States Constitution 

 Free Speech and Free Exercise of Religion 

23. Paragraphs 1 through 20 are incorporated by reference as if set forth fully 

herein. 

24. Defendants through their officers and agents, deprived Plaintiffs of their 
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rights to free exercise of religion, as secured by the First Amendment to the United 

States Constitution. 

 COUNT III 

 Violation of the Religious Freedom Restoration Act 

 42 U.S.C. 2000bb et seq 

25. Paragraphs 1 through 20 are incorporated by reference as if set forth fully 

herein. 

26. Defendants through their officers and agents have burdened Plaintiffs’ free 

exercise of religion in violation of the Religious Freedom Restoration Act, 42 U.S.C. 

2000bb-1 et seq. 

 Request For Relief 

Wherefore, plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court grant the following relief: 
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(a) A declaratory judgment that the defendants may not interpret 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1913; Public Law 104-61, § 8015; Department of Defense Directives; USAF 

Regulations, DoDD 1344.10 ¶ D.1.B(1); DoD Instruction 5500.7-A § 6-100; 

AFI 51-902 ¶ 3.1; AFI 51-902 ¶ 3.3; Army Regulations 215-1, ¶ 4-7P; AR 

600-20, ¶ 5-3A(2)(A); or any other provision in a manner which prohibits 

chaplains from following the dictates of conscience in preaching and 

counseling to their congregants on moral issues and their corresponding 

duties, including but not limited to urging them during religious services 

or private counseling to communicate with their legislators regarding 

possible legislation; 

 

(b) A declaratory judgment that the defendants may not interpret 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1913; Public Law 104-61, § 8015; Department of Defense Directives; USAF 

Regulations, DoDD 1344.10 ¶ D.1.B(1); DoD Instruction 5500.7-A § 6-100; 

AFI 51-902 ¶ 3.1; AFI 51-902 ¶ 3.3; Army Regulations 215-1, ¶ 4-7P; AR 

600-20, ¶ 5-3A(2)(A); or any other provision in a manner which interferes 

with the rights of parishioners/congregants to receive uncensored 

information from their clergy members in the military chaplaincy on moral 

issues and their corresponding duties, including but not limited to 

communicating with legislators regarding possible legislation; 

 

(c) A permanent injunction preventing the defendants from further 

deprivation of the free speech and free exercise rights of plaintiffs;  

 

(d) An award to plaintiffs of full costs and attorney's fees arising out of this 

litigation; and 

 

(e) Such other and further relief that this Court may deem just and 

appropriate. 

 

 

Dated:  September 10, 1996    Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

THE BECKET FUND FOR RELIGIOUS   

     LIBERTY 

 

By: ___________________________________ 
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  Kevin J. Hasson 

Eric W. Treene 

2000 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 

Suite 3200 

Washington, D.C.  20006 

(202) 955-0095 

 

KJH D.C. Bar No.: 417158 


